# The Immunological Basis for Immunization Series

## Module 5: Tuberculosis Update 2021



# The Immunological Basis for Immunization Series

## Module 5: Tuberculosis Update 2021



#### The immunological basis for immunization series. Module 5: tuberculosis. Update 2021 (Immunological basis for immunization series; module 5)

#### ISBN 978-92-4-002193-8 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-002194-5 (print version)

#### © World Health Organization 2021

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo</u>).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization.

Suggested citation. The immunological basis for immunization series. Module 5: tuberculosis. Update 2021. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (Immunological basis for immunization series; module 5). License: <u>CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.</u>

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see <u>http://apps.who.int/bookorders</u>. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see <u>http://www.who.int/about/licensing</u>.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

### Contents

Abbreviations and acronyms
Prefacev
Acknowledgements vi
Conflict of interest
The need for immunization against tuberculosis1
Bacille Calmette Guerin (BCG) vaccine
The host immune response to <i>M. tuberculosis</i> infection5
T cells
B cells and antibodies
Immune response to BCG
Immunological correlates of risk for progression to TB disease
New TB vaccines11
Preclinical studies11
Stage gates for TB vaccine development14
Clinical development of new TB vaccines
Immune responses to novel TB vaccine candidates in humans17
Viral vectored vaccine candidates17
Protein subunit vaccine candidates18
Comparing immune responses induced by viral vector and protein subunit vaccines
Whole cell vaccine candidates20
Conclusion
References

## Abbreviations and acronyms

ADCC	Antibody-dependent cytotoxic		
BCG	Bacille Calmette Guerin		
COR	Correlate of risk		
DR	Drug-resistant		
DS	Drug-sensitive		
DURT	Donor unrestricted T (cells)		
GTBVP	Global TB Vaccine Partnership		
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus		
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen		
IAVI	International AIDS Vaccine Initiative		
IGRA	Interferon-gamma release assay		
ILC	Innate lymphoid cells		
ISG	Interferon-stimulated gene		
ISG	Interferon-stimulated genes		
MAIT	Mucosal-associated invariant T (cells)		
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid		
NK	Natural killer (cells)		
NKT	Natural killer T (cells)		
PET CT	Positron emission tomography – computed tomography		
QFT	QuantiFERON		
RNA	Ribonucleic acid		
SAGE	Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on Immunization		
TB	Tuberculosis		
TBVI	Tuberculosis Vaccine Initiative		
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor		
TST	Tuberculin skin test		

### Preface

This module is part of the World Health Organization (WHO) series The immunological basis for immunization, which was initially developed in 1993 as a set of eight modules comprising one module on general immunology and seven modules each devoted to one of the vaccines recommended for the Expanded Programme on Immunization – i.e. vaccines against diphtheria, measles, pertussis, polio, tetanus, tuberculosis and yellow fever. Since then, this series has been updated and extended to include other vaccines of international importance. The main purpose of the modules is to provide national immunization managers and vaccination professionals with an overview of the scientific basis for vaccination against a range of important infectious diseases. The modules developed since 1993 continue to be vaccine-specific, reflecting the biological differences in immune responses to the individual pathogens and the differing strategies employed to create the best possible level of protection that can be provided by vaccination. The modules also serve as a record of the immunological basis for the WHO recommendations on vaccine use, published in the WHO vaccine position papers<sup>1</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See: <u>http://www.who.int/immunization/documents/positionpapers\_intro/en/index.html</u>, accessed 31 July 2018.

## Acknowledgements

The preparation of this publication was coordinated by the WHO Department of Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals. WHO thanks the donors whose unspecified financial support has made the production of this document possible.

This module was updated for WHO by **Thomas J. Scriba** and **Mark Hatherill** (South African Tuberculosis Vaccine Initiative, Institute of Infectious Disease & Molecular Medicine and Division of Immunology, Department of Pathology, University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa), **Barry Walker and Michael Brennan** (consultants). The findings and conclusions in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of their institution.

WHO also expresses its thanks to those who provided expert and technical reviews for the initial preparation of the module and the 2021 update, namely Helen McShane and Willem Hanekom.

## Conflict of interest

None reported.

## The need for immunization against tuberculosis

It is estimated that about one quarter of the global population, approximately 1.7 billion people (2014 estimates), are infected with Mycobacterium tuberculosis and between 5–15% of infected people are expected to progress to tuberculosis (TB) disease during their lifetimes.<sup>1</sup> The risk of progressing from infection to TB disease is highest in the very young, HIV- infected people, smokers, people taking immunosuppressive medication and those with diabetes mellitus. The risk of progression from primary infection to TB disease in the absence of preventive therapy is approximately 30–50% in infancy and 10% in the second year of life, but declines to 2-5% between 5 and 10 years of age, increasing thereafter to 10-20% in adolescents and adults.<sup>2</sup> More than half of the lifetime TB risk is thought to occur in the first two years after infection.<sup>3,4</sup> While young children bear the highest risk of progression to disease and the highest risk of severe morbidity in the form of miliary and meningitic disease, the ongoing global TB epidemic is driven by transmission via droplet spread from infectious adolescents and adults with pulmonary TB disease. Therefore, although children bear a disproportionate burden of disease, systematic TB control efforts are directed at halting adolescent and adult disease.

In 2019, an estimated 10 million people worldwide developed TB disease (an incidence rate of 130 per 100 000 of the global population), approximately 8.2% of whom had HIV-associated TB; 12% were children and over 177 000 were provided with treatment for multidrug- or rifampicin resistant TB. TB is the most common identifiable cause of infectious disease mortality. An estimated 1.4 million people died from TB worldwide in 2019, including some 208 000 whose deaths were from HIV-associated TB.<sup>5</sup> Globally, TB incidence has begun to decline at a rate of approximately 2% per year – a modest reduction that must accelerate to 10% per year by 2025 and 17% thereafter to achieve the milestones of the End TB Strategy which aims for a 90% reduction in the TB incidence rate by 2035.<sup>6</sup> This unprecedented fall in incidence is likely to be unachievable without deployment of a new and more effective TB vaccine.

A more effective vaccination strategy against both drug-sensitive (DS-) and drugresistant (DR-) pulmonary TB among adults has the potential to have a major impact on the global epidemic by interrupting transmission. Immunogenicity and effectiveness of a TB vaccine are unlikely to be affected by the enzymatic mutations underlying resistance to first-line drugs, fluoroquinolones and injectables, which makes TB vaccination a potentially powerful tool against *M. tuberculosis* antimicrobial resistance.<sup>7</sup> WHO has proposed "preferred product characteristics" for new TB vaccines, with the goal of developing both a safe, effective and affordable TB vaccine for adolescents and adults and an affordable TB vaccine for neonates and infants with improved safety and efficacy as compared to Bacille Calmette Guerin (BCG).<sup>8</sup> An ideal TB vaccination strategy might hinge on: 1) a new vaccine or vaccines given in adolescence and/or young adulthood as a boost for newborn BCG in order to prevent the rapid increase in TB disease notifications occurring in adults; 2) an infant vaccine more effective than BCG with consistent and durable protection lasting into adulthood; or 3) some combination of these pre- and post-exposure approaches. Regional differences in TB burden, mycobacterial exposure and *M. tuberculosis* infection prevalence, comorbidities such as HIV infection, and population-level genetic and sociodemographic differences are all likely to affect the success of these strategies at country level. For instance, in parts of South Africa where up to 50% of adolescents and 80% of adults are *M. tuberculosis*-infected, <sup>9,10</sup> a TB vaccination strategy aimed primarily at the *M. tuberculosis*-uninfected population might target the age group of 9–12 years, whereas a strategy aimed at *M. tuberculosis*-infected persons might target adults aged 18–25 years, to avoid the need for tuberculin skin test (TST) or interferon-gamma release assay (IGRA) screening prior to vaccination.<sup>10</sup>

## Bacille Calmette Guerin (BCG) vaccine

BCG is the only vaccine licensed against TB. BCG was first used in 1921 and is given universally at birth in TB-endemic countries.<sup>11</sup> BCG vaccine products in current use appear to have become more attenuated than the original *M. bovis*-derived strain and there are many genetic and proteomic differences among the 14 circulating strains.<sup>12,13,14</sup> However, despite apparent differences in immunogenicity and reactogenicity, there are insufficient efficacy data to recommend one strain over another.<sup>15,16</sup> A global BCG vaccine distribution shortage, magnified by technical manufacturing difficulties at two major producers, began in 2013 and was projected to result in 7433 excess TB deaths in children under 15 years of age.<sup>17</sup> Although the distribution shortages may have been overcome, country-level programmatic reliance on licensed BCG strains often produced by a single external manufacturer remains a concern. Fermentation of BCG has been suggested as one way to combat production shortages.<sup>18</sup> This would require multiple new studies, but it would be an exceptional accomplishment to have one universal strain of BCG for global immunization.

It is clear that the efficacy of BCG vaccination has varied widely across clinical trials and observational studies,<sup>16</sup> with the greatest efficacy being observed in youngest children without previous immune sensitization to mycobacteria. In a systematic review of 18 clinical trials, protection offered by BCG vaccination was greatest in infants (rate ratio, RR 0.41; 95% confidence interval, CI 0.29–0.58) and in TST-negative children (RR 0.26; 95% CI 0.18–0.37), with little evidence of efficacy observed in older persons (RR 0.81; 95% CI 0.55–1.22). The observation that BCG efficacy was greater in trials conducted further from the equator was attenuated in multivariable analysis that took diagnostic detection bias into account.<sup>16</sup> Similar trends were observed in a systematic review that included observational studies.<sup>19</sup> BCG appears to offer consistent protection against the most severe forms of childhood TB, with efficacy estimated at 73% (95% CI 67–79) against tuberculous meningitis and 77% (58–87) against miliary TB in a meta-analysis of 18 case-control studies. In these studies efficacy also varied geographically, with greater protection observed in studies in Latin America than in Asian studies.<sup>20</sup>

There is some evidence that BCG vaccination may provide a non-specific survival benefit for young children independent of protection against TB,<sup>21,22</sup> although this has been questioned by WHO's Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on Immunization (SAGE).<sup>\*</sup> Non-specific protection against mortality due to other diseases attributed to BCG<sup>23</sup> is thought to be associated with epigenetic imprinting of innate immune cells, known as trained immunity, which enhances their functional capacity to control a variety of infectious organisms.<sup>24</sup> Clinical trials are under way to test the efficacy

See: https://www.who.int/wer/2014/wer8921.pdf (accessed 26 January 2021).

of BCG vaccination against disease caused by SARS-CoV-2. It may be important to determine whether other live, whole-cell or even certain subunit TB vaccine candidates confer non-specific survival benefits. Other non-specific effects of BCG on diseases such as bladder cancer are well documented,<sup>25</sup> as are the mycobacteria-specific protective benefits conferred by BCG against diseases such as leprosy and Buruli ulcer.<sup>26</sup>

Primary infant BCG vaccination does not seem to offer consistent, durable protection for much longer than 10 years. A review of 10 clinical trials calculated average BCG efficacy beyond 10 years after vaccination at 14% (95% CI -9-32).<sup>19,27</sup> However, in five of these studies there was evidence of measurable protection at least 15 years after BCG vaccination.<sup>19</sup> For example, in the control arm of a BCG revaccination trial, efficacy of BCG was 39% (95% CI 9–58) at age 15–20 years,<sup>28</sup> and in Alaska persistent protection estimated at 40% was observed after 40 years of age.<sup>29</sup> Notwithstanding these isolated reports of more durable protection, the waning of infant BCGinduced immunity suggests there could be a potential benefit from BCG boosting or revaccination approaches before or early in adolescence. However, two randomized controlled trials have shown no overall benefit of BCG revaccination in providing additional protection against TB.<sup>30,31</sup> One very large, open-label, cluster-randomized trial of school-age Brazilian children, in which the disease endpoint was determined by passive follow-up and linkage to health service records, showed 9% efficacy (95% CI -16-29%).<sup>31</sup> Extended trial follow-up over 9 years also showed no benefit, with 12% efficacy overall (95% CI -2-24%). However, 33% efficacy (95% CI 3-54%) was observed in the subgroup of younger children aged 7–11 years of age at one study centre,<sup>32</sup> which some have hypothesized as perhaps due to less prior mycobacterial exposure, including to non-tuberculous mycobacteria. A large, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial in Malawi also showed no benefit of BCG revaccination against all forms of confirmed TB (RR 1.43; 95% CI 0.88-2.35),<sup>30</sup> although the trial was conducted in a setting where primary BCG vaccination had previously not demonstrated efficacy.<sup>33</sup> Observational studies conducted in Europe and West Africa suggest that primary BCG vaccination of children may offer protection against *M. tuberculosis* infection, defined by IGRA conversion after household or congregate exposure, with overall protective efficacy of 19%.<sup>34</sup> Notably, in six studies in which children were followed for incident disease, overall efficacy was 71%, the combined result of 27% protection against infection and 58% protection against disease.<sup>34</sup> BCG revaccination of *M. tuberculosis*-uninfected adolescents was also recently shown to reduce the rate of sustained IGRA conversion, which may reflect sustained *M. tuberculosis* infection, by 45% in a high-transmission setting.<sup>35</sup> The value of this approach – i.e. BCG revaccination of *M. tuberculosis*-uninfected populations for prevention of subsequent TB disease - remains to be determined in efficacy trials that will be large and costly due to lower disease incidence in this population. However, if effective, BCG revaccination of *M. tuberculosis*-uninfected populations is likely to be cost-effective as a public health intervention.<sup>36</sup>

## The host immune response to *M. tuberculosis* infection

It was estimated that 1.7 billion people have been infected with *M. tuberculosis*,<sup>1</sup> and yet most of these individuals successfully control or contain the bacterium and avert progression to TB disease. It follows that, in most infected individuals, the host immune response mounted against *M. tuberculosis* is highly effective and can be characterized to reveal key immunological effector mechanisms that vaccination should aim to invoke. This reasoning is the basis for hundreds of studies into natural immune responses to *M. tuberculosis*. However, such studies cannot reveal which features of the immune response are causally linked to successful immunity against TB, which features have no effect, and which features may actually be drivers of disease pathology. Nevertheless, much can be gleaned from understanding the natural immunity against *M. tuberculosis* in persons with asymptomatic *M. tuberculosis* infection.

#### T cells

Antigen-specific T cells are clearly necessary for effective immunity against M. tuberculosis, as evidenced from a wealth of human and animal model studies.<sup>37,38</sup> This forms the basis for most current vaccination strategies against TB, which overwhelmingly target antigen-specific T cells and primarily the CD4+ T cell subset that expresses Th1 cytokines. However, beyond the presence of functional M. tuberculosis-specific Th1 cells, it is not known which characteristics of such responses are responsible for protective immunity. Much emphasis has been placed on CD4+ T cells that are polyfunctional – i.e. that simultaneously co-express multiple cytokines (e.g. IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-2) on a single cell level. However, on the basis of current evidence, polyfunctionality of CD4+ T cells is not sufficient to mediate protection against M. tuberculosis.39 Other functional attributes may be important, including effector function, the degree of T cell differentiation, or memory profile, or tissue residence or homing potential. Another important question regarding T cell responses is which M. tuberculosis antigens they target. Early work on T cell responses focused primarily on proteins that are actively secreted by *M. tuberculosis*, such as ESAT-6, CFP-10, TB10.4, Ag85A and Ag85B which were found to be relatively immunodominant.<sup>40-44</sup> As a result, such antigens were incorporated into the first new generation TB vaccine candidates.<sup>45,46</sup> However, more recent, genome-wide analyses of CD4+ T cell responses to *M. tuberculosis* antigens in latently infected adults show that a much broader set of proteins is targeted.<sup>47-49</sup> More research is required to determine which of these antigens may be associated with protective immunity and would make the best vaccine antigens.<sup>50</sup>

CD8+ T cells are thought to also contribute to protective immunity against *M. tuberculosis*, although the degree of this contribution is not definitive. Several studies have reported elevated frequencies of antigen-specific CD8+T cell responses in TB patients compared to healthy *M. tuberculosis*-infected controls.<sup>51-53</sup> The implication of this phenomenon is currently not clear but the finding appears to be reproducible and has been proposed as a diagnostic approach for TB disease.<sup>53</sup> Interestingly, treatment of *M. tuberculosis*-infected persons with the anti-TNF biologic infliximab or biosimilars for autoimmune disease was shown to reduce the numbers of terminallydifferentiated, TNF-dependent CD45RA+CD8+ T cells, with a concomitant reduction in antimycobacterial capacity.<sup>54</sup> These data provide evidence that antigen-specific CD8+ T cells are likely to contribute to successful control of *M. tuberculosis* infection. Recently, there has been much interest in so-called donor-unrestricted T (DURT) cells, which include  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, MR1-restricted mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells, CD1d-restricted NKT cells and CD1b-restricted lipid-specific T cells.<sup>55</sup> Such cell subsets typically possess high effector function, including cytokine expression and cytotoxicity, and naturally reside at mucosal sites, including the airways.<sup>55</sup> They may, therefore, be ideally located to respond rapidly to *M. tuberculosis* infection. Compared with conventional CD4+ or CD8+ T cells that require priming in lymphoid tissues, must differentiate into effector cells and then traffic to infected tissues, DURT cells may provide early immunity against invading pathogens. They may also contribute to the early inflammatory responses required to recruit memory T cells, thus acting as "immune primers" in a role analogous to that of adjuvants. However, whether such airway-resident DURT populations play a role in resistance to *M. tuberculosis* infection in humans is currently not known and is the focus of ongoing research.

#### B cells and antibodies

Recent insights about the roles played by B cells and antibodies in immunity against intracellular bacteria have revealed a number of mechanisms that may also mediate control of *M. tuberculosis*. <sup>56-58</sup> Interestingly, antigen-specific antibodies from asymptomatic *M. tuberculosis*-infected individuals had significantly different glycosylation profiles on their constant (Fc) domains compared with those from TB patients, which endowed them with a unique functionality that promoted selective binding to CD16 and allowed intracellular killing of *M. tuberculosis*.<sup>59</sup> Another study showed that, compared with uninfected controls, the function of B cells was impaired in persons with latent *M. tuberculosis* infection and in patients with active TB, suggesting that such B-cell dysfunction compromises cellular host immunity against *M. tuberculosis* infection.<sup>60</sup> Further, higher antibody-dependent cytotoxic (ADCC) responses were observed in *M. tuberculosis*-infected individuals than in uninfected donors, which may contribute to the antigen-specific cytotoxic response and control of *M. tuberculosis* in those with latent infection.<sup>61</sup> Since B cells are found in lung granulomas, it is thought that they may be important antigen-presenting cells to T cells, in addition to secreting antibodies and conferring regulatory functions by modulating inflammation.58

Other cell subsets that can be induced or manipulated by vaccination may also contribute to the successful anti- mycobacterial immune response. Although NK cells are not thought to be traditional targets of vaccination owing to their mostly innate behaviour, it has recently become clear in studies of viral infections, such as cytomegalovirus, that NK cells can differentiate to acquire "memory" functions with enhanced antiviral properties.<sup>62,63</sup> Notably, a recent study showed that NK cells and their cytotoxic potential was higher in *M. tuberculosis*-infected persons than in uninfected individuals and that this was associated with elevated ADCC responses.<sup>61</sup> Modulation of these different immune cells by vaccination against TB is discussed in further detail below.

#### Immune response to BCG

BCG vaccination in infants induces a robust T cell response which comprises predominantly Th1-cytokine- expressing CD4+ T cells.<sup>64</sup> These BCG-specific CD4+ T cells typically express IFN- $\gamma$  in combination with TNF and IL-2,<sup>64-66</sup> although IL-17 expression by CD4+ T cells has also been reported.<sup>65,57</sup> Antigen-specific IFN $\gamma$ -expressing CD8+ T cells are also induced by BCG vaccination, but at frequencies much lower than CD4+ T cells.<sup>64-66</sup> BCG-induced CD4+ and CD8+ T cells also display cytotoxic potential, including expression of perforin, granzyme B and granulysin.<sup>66-68</sup> These responses appear to peak in frequency between 6 and 10 weeks of age, followed by waning of the immune responses, although BCG-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells remain detectable up to 12 months after vaccination.<sup>66</sup>

BCG vaccination also induces mycobacteria-specific antibody responses, as reported in several studies.<sup>23,24,69,70</sup> However, BCG-induced antibody responses are not universally observed,<sup>71</sup> probably because of pre-existing, high-titre antibodies induced by prior exposure to environmental mycobacteria.<sup>72,73</sup> It is not clear if any of these responses induced by BCG vaccination confer protective immunity against TB. A study of immune correlates in BCG-vaccinated infants, which measured CD4+ and CD8+ T-cell expression of IFN-γ, TNF-α, IL-2 and IL-17 at 10 weeks of age, reported no association between frequencies or cytokine-expression patterns in BCG-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells and subsequent risk of TB disease.<sup>65</sup> In contrast, frequencies of cells expressing IFN-y, measured by ELISpot assay after BCG stimulation, were lower in infants who ultimately developed TB than in those who remained healthy.<sup>89</sup> As observed in infants, intradermal vaccination of adolescents or adults with BCG also induces T cells that predominantly express IFNy.35,75-77 In general, immune responses to BCG vaccination in these populations appear to be similar to those reported after infant vaccination provided that the persons have not been pre-sensitized by prior BCG vaccination or *M. tuberculosis* infection. In individuals with prior immune responses to mycobacteria, BCG revaccination appears to boost CD4+ T cell responses, although to a lesser degree than observed in unsensitized individuals.<sup>76,78</sup> It is notable that, in a trial of BCG revaccination in adults with prior *M. tuberculosis* infection, only a transient increase in Th1-cytokine expressing CD4+, CD8+ and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells was observed; however, BCG revaccination significantly boosted IFN-γ-expressing CD56<sup>dim</sup> and CD56<sup>hi</sup> NK cells which remained elevated up to 1 year after revaccination,<sup>78</sup> suggesting induction of memory features in NK cells.

The recently published prevention of infection trial of BCG revaccination in QFT-negative adolescents also reported that BCG can boost CD4+ T cells that express Th1 cytokines IFN $\gamma$  and IL-2.<sup>35</sup> A detailed analysis of the immune responses induced in this latter trial also revealed that, in addition to CD4+ T cells expressing IFN $\gamma$ , IL-2 and TNF $\alpha$ , a substantial IL-22- producing CD4 T cell subset was boosted.<sup>†</sup> It is clear that the broad repertoire of antigens contained in BCG, which includes a multitude of proteins, lipids, carbohydrates and other moieties that may be antigenic, can induce or boost a very broad spectrum of responses which may be important in its protective efficacy.

<sup>†</sup> Rozot V, Nemes E. Communications Biology (in press).

## Immunological correlates of risk for progression to TB disease

Rational vaccine development is hampered by the lack of immunological correlates of protection against TB. However, the first opportunities to identify such immunological correlates of protection now exist. Efficacy was observed in the first prevention of infection efficacy trial, which demonstrated that BCG revaccination of *M. tuberculosis*-uninfected adolescents provided 45% protective efficacy against sustained *M. tuberculosis* infection; and the first prevention of TB disease efficacy trial of an adjuvanted protein subunit vaccine, M72/AS01<sub>F</sub>, demonstrated 54% protection against progression to confirmed pulmonary TB disease in M. tuberculosis-infected adults through two years of follow-up<sup>79</sup> and 50% protection after three years.<sup>80</sup> Until correlates of protection studies are completed using banked blood specimens collected in these trials, we can rely only on clues from studies of biomarkers of risk for TB which have reported a number of such candidate correlates of risk (COR). Whole-blood transcriptomic RNA signatures, discovered by RNA-sequencing of TB progressors and healthy controls, showed that mRNA transcripts – which largely represent interferon-stimulated genes (ISG) - could predict progression from infection to TB disease with promising sensitivity and specificity.<sup>81,82</sup> These transcriptomic COR signatures, which were validated by blind prediction in independent cohorts of progressors, suggest that disease progression is accompanied by elevated systemic inflammation and type I/II interferon signalling<sup>83</sup> – biological pathways that are also markedly elevated in patients with active TB disease.84-87

T cell activation has also been shown to correlate with the risk of TB. In BCG-vaccinated infant participants of a phase 2b efficacy trial of the novel TB vaccine MVA85A,88 those who developed TB disease during follow-up had significantly higher pre-vaccination levels of HLA-DR-positive CD4+ T cells, a biomarker of T cell activation, than those who remained healthy.<sup>89</sup> Elevated CD4+ T cell expression of HLA-DR was also found to correlate with risk of TB in an independent cohort of *M. tuberculosis*-infected adolescent TB progressors and healthy controls.<sup>83,89</sup> Finally, it was shown in the same infant cohort that very high *M. tuberculosis*-specific IFNy responses, detected by IGRA as plasma IFNy values >4IU/mL, were associated with tremendously high risk of TB disease in the following months<sup>90</sup> – a finding that was also observed in adults from Norway.<sup>91</sup> It is very likely that elevated T-cell activation, very high IGRA IFNy values and upregulated blood ISG expression reflect the same axis of immunopathogenesis during TB progression and are indicators of incipient or subclinical disease.<sup>83,92</sup> Although such COR may not directly inform immunological responses that should be targeted by TB vaccination, there is evidence that vaccination of persons with underlying incipient or subclinical disease can result in a different vaccineinduced response. In M. tuberculosis-infected adults who received BCG-revaccination, the IL-17 function of BCG-specific T cell responses was reduced in individuals with high ISG expression.<sup>83</sup> The implications of this observation remain unknown but it demonstrates that post- exposure approaches to vaccination should take the newly acknowledged spectrum of *M. tuberculosis* infection into account.<sup>92</sup>

Two other immunological COR that are of more direct relevance to vaccination were also reported in infant participants in the efficacy trial of MVA85A.<sup>88</sup> Fletcher and colleagues identified that infants who remained healthy (controls) during trial follow-up had higher levels of Ag85A-specific IgG antibodies than infants who developed TB (progressors).<sup>89</sup> Pre-vaccination frequencies of BCG-reactive T cells that secreted IFNγ, detected by ELISpot assay, were also found to be elevated in controls compared to TB progressor infants, and were thus associated with reduced risk of TB disease.<sup>89</sup> This finding was surprising in light of the previous immune correlates study in BCG-vaccinated infants, discussed above, which found no associations between frequencies or cytokine-expression patterns of BCG-specific CD4 and CD8 T cells and subsequent risk of TB.<sup>65</sup> However, a number of differences in sample collection, timing and assay processing could explain this discrepancy.

#### New TB vaccines

#### Preclinical studies

Preclinical studies have made significant contributions to our understanding of the immune responses elicited by BCG vaccination and have provided insights into the nature of what might be a protective immune response induced by a range of candidate vaccines in animal models. The immune responses elicited by vaccination in preclinical studies reflect those found in human studies but with fundamental species-specific differences in the immune network and cell types. Induction of a Th1-like CD4+ activation profile with IFN-gamma production, along with some CD8+ T cell and antibody activity, appears to be associated with a protective immune phenotype in preclinical studies. The vast majority of preclinical vaccine studies have involved the murine model, with extensive dissection of the immune responses and cytokine profiles in both pre- and post-exposure models, as well as intense dissection of immune responses where "protection" has been seen (recently reviewed by Ernst).<sup>93</sup>

The reasons for undertaking preclinical studies are multiple, namely: 1) to provide insight into the effect of BCG and novel vaccines on complex immune systems; 2) to provide a framework for triaging vaccine strategies; and 3) to provide supporting data for new products for regulatory purposes. Increasing the probability of success through targeted and predictive preclinical immunology and disease studies is critical to the successful development of a candidate vaccine. However, understanding the relevance of preclinical studies to clinical TB vaccine outcomes has been confounded by several fundamental problems. Preclinical protection outcomes for specific vaccine strategies can vary considerably across different species, and even within the same species, depending on the specific protocol used. The degree to which the underlying immunological profile elicited by vaccine interventions drives the clinical outcome is critical to understanding the relevance of preclinical studies to subsequent human studies. In many cases the ability to undertake targeted studies to better understand the concordance (or not) between preclinical models has been hampered by limitations of the immunological tools available.<sup>94–96</sup> A concerted effort should be undertaken to compare and contrast the linkage between phenotypic outcome (degree of protection, modulation of disease or pathology) from a vaccine intervention and the nature of the immune profile generated between preclinical models (Table 1). This will require efforts to harmonize vaccine protocols, taking into account species differences as well as improving the immune tools available.

Species	Advantages	Disadvantages	Primary use
Mouse	Inexpensive, demonstrates vaccine effect with BCG, significant immunology/gene expression tools available. New cross-breeding strategies have provided additional tools, such as collaborative cross mice, diversity outbred mice as well as ultra-low-dose infection).	Relevance to humans unclear, specific differences in pathology, immunology, receptors and pathways.	Immunogenicity, primary functional screen for a vaccine effect against <i>M. tuberculosis</i> infection. These studies can provide supportive data for regulatory purposes.
Guinea pig	Pathology similar to human disease, very susceptible to <i>M. tuberculosis</i> , demonstrates robust vaccine effect with BCG. Used in regulatory safety- testing of BCG vaccines.	Relevance to humans unclear, specific differences in pathology, immunology, receptors and pathways; limited immunological tools.	Functional screen for vaccine effect, often used as confirmation of murine observations in vaccine screening.
Goats	Pathology and route of infection similar to humans, animal- to-animal transmission seen; vaccine effect seen with BCG. Potential for field trials with natural transmission.	Limited immunological tools, and relevance to humans unclear. Not inbred so diversity in outcomes is more notable.	Limited use to date. Some field trials of vaccine candidates undertaken; more are planned.
Cattle	Pathology and route of infection similar to humans, animal- to-animal transmission seen, vaccine immunogenicity and efficacy shown with BCG. Potential for field trials with natural transmission.	Constraints on use and vaccination in the European area due to regulations concerning cattle TB and skin test conversion. Expensive, P3 containment need in the EC area. Limited immunological tools, relevance to humans unclear. Not inbred so diversity in outcomes more notable.	Increasing use to date. Experimental infection and some field trials of vaccine candidates ongoing. Limited number of sites with capability to study cattle tuberculosis and vaccine-testing.
Non- human primates	Rhesus and cynomolgus species used. Considered closest to humans, with similar immunology and pathology to humans. However, disease pathogenesis and phenotype differences between rhesus and cynomolgus macaques exist. Ability to use sensitive imaging technologies for screening of disease progression.	Expensive; ethical constraints. BCG effect variable and species dependent (rhesus and cynomolgus lead species used). Not inbred so diversity in outcomes more notable, making statistical powering of studies difficult. Geographical source also may affect vaccine outcome. Limited number of sites with capability to study tuberculosis and vaccine testing. Appropriate imaging technologies and interpretation algorithms not yet harmonized or validated.	Study of tuberculosis infection, vaccine-screening and disease progression.
Others	Rabbits, marmosets, zebra fish, in vitro granuloma, controlled human infection. There are others, often with specific and specialized application (primarily research tools or in development as such).		

#### Table 1: Advantages and disadvantages of preclinical models

Significant advances in preclinical models have been achieved in monitoring disease progression in non-human primates using PET CT, which have provided new insights into granuloma development, disease progression and vaccine effects in vivo.<sup>97,98</sup> In conjunction with these advances, better understanding of exposure and transmission has enabled the development of natural transmission models in primates, cattle and goats, allowing for field trials of vaccines in real-world, though non-human, cohorts. Low-dose and ultra-low-dose repeated exposure studies have been undertaken to better reflect human disease and thereby to provide tools to better understand vaccine-induced immunity. These models remain under development but are progressing rapidly.<sup>99,100</sup> Murine and small animal models have undergone refinement in technology and immune/gene expression tools and analysis. In addition, improved understanding of the contribution of genetic background can potentially yield significant advances in our understanding of the complex interactions between vaccine interventions, genetics and the subsequent immunological and phenotypic outcomes in terms of protection. The development of genetically characterized, yet genetically diverse, mice (collaborative cross mice) has the potential to reveal new approaches and key points of intervention for vaccine strategies.<sup>101</sup>

## Stage gates for TB vaccine development

The TB Vaccine Development Pathway (stage gates for TB vaccine development) was established by a team of scientific and technical experts from the Tuberculosis Vaccine Initiative (TBVI) and Aeras (now the International AIDS Vaccine Initiative, or IAVI) with the input of the TB vaccine community. The tool has been developed on behalf of the Global TB Vaccine Partnership (GTBVP), an alliance of organizations working to make novel TB vaccines a reality, and is funded by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation.<sup>‡</sup> The stage-gate process is based on an established principle in the pharmaceutical industry, by which the best current science and understanding feed into a series of gating criteria that are expected to be met for further product development at critical stage-gate decision points from laboratory to phase 3 trial and beyond (Figure 1). Agreement and input from across the TB vaccine development community has provided a robust methodology and framework to facilitate acceleration of TB vaccine development from discovery to clinic. A well understood difficulty in using this approach to TB vaccine development has been navigating the gap between our understanding of immunology, preclinical outcomes, and application to clinical outcomes in humans. The primary application of the stage-gate process has been in translational and preclinical processes to make key Stop/Go decisions in mid- to latestage preclinical development. However, the processes and decisions made once a vaccine achieves clinical development remain an important aspect of this strategy, but are more clearly defined by established clinical practice and the requirements of the regulatory pathway for acceptance. The stage-gate strategy allows transparent decision-making on whether the available immunological or preclinical outcome data distinguish a candidate from others that are further ahead in development, or whether factors such as evidence of inconsistency in manufacture or yield on purification would make further development more difficult, <sup>102,103</sup> as well as harmonizing clinical development decisions across different vaccine candidates.

<sup>‡</sup> See: <u>https://www.tbvacpathway.org/</u> (accessed 16 November 2020).





## Clinical development of new TB vaccines

In the past decade, more than 15 candidates containing a variety of *M. tuberculosis* antigens have moved into human clinical studies. Candidates in the TB vaccine development pipeline<sup>§</sup> include inactivated whole cell or whole cell extracts (*M. vaccae*, RUTI and DAR-901); viral-vectored vaccines (ChAdOx1.85A, Ad5Ag85A, TB/Flu-04L); fusion protein subunits with adjuvants (M72/AS01E, H4:IC31, H56:IC31 and ID93 + GLA-SE); and live recombinant *M. tuberculosis* or BCG vaccines (MTBVAC and VPM-1002).

Results of proof-of-concept efficacy trials against both *M. tuberculosis* infection and TB disease have been reported for H4:IC31, BCG revaccination, and M72/AS01E.<sup>35,79,80</sup> Live vaccines such as the listeriolysin-altered BCG vaccine VPM-1002 are in phase 2b trials in South Africa and India,<sup>104,105</sup> although an earlier recombinant BCG expressing three *M. tuberculosis* antigens did not progress from phase 1 due to a safety signal.<sup>106</sup> MTBVAC, the first live *M. tuberculosis* vaccine to reach clinical testing, is currently in phase 2 trials.<sup>107,108</sup>

Several novel approaches that seek to accelerate innovation in TB vaccine development are also underway, most of them in preclinical stages and proof-of-concept studies in animal models. For instance, a number of recent non-human primate studies have tested novel routes of BCG delivery, such as aerosol and intravenous administration. <sup>109</sup> Intravenous BCG administration, which induced very high levels of antigen-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses in the lungs, demonstrated particularly impressive protection against *M. tuberculosis* challenge.<sup>110</sup> Other approaches seek to expand the antigen repertoire included in vaccines, often in novel vaccine designs or constructs. A live, recombinant cytomegalovirus vaccine that expresses up to 9 M. tuberculosis antigens, induced and maintained M. tuberculosis-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses that were highly differentiated and tissue-resident in rhesus macaques.<sup>111</sup> This vaccine also achieved very impressive protection against TB disease upon M. tuberculosis challenge. Refinement of antigen combinations and formulation with novel adjuvant systems is also underway, as is development of RNA vaccines, yet another innovative approach that allows accelerated testing of novel antigens. As illustrated through project "Warp-speed" for SARS-CoV-2 vaccine development, RNA vaccine technology allows rapid vaccine design and manufacture and RNA-based TB vaccines are in preclinical testing.

See: <u>https://www.tbvi.eu/what-we-do/pipeline-of-vaccines/</u> (accessed 16 November 2020).

## Immune responses to novel TB vaccine candidates in humans

A robust Th1 cellular immune response, possibly accompanied by antibodies, is likely to be required for protection against TB disease. Currently, most candidate TB vaccines contain various combinations of vectors, adjuvants and antigens that induce classical Th1 CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses that produce cytokines such as IFN $\gamma$  and TNF. Methods, assays and protocols employed in different trials to measure immune responses induced by different vaccine candidates vary widely<sup>112</sup> but most clinical trials have reported antigen-specific CD4+ and/or CD8+ cells expressing Th1 cytokines IFN $\gamma$ , TNF or IL-2 as the immunogenicity outcome.

#### Viral vectored vaccine candidates

The viral vectored vaccine candidates MVA85A and Aeras-402 were the first to reach phase 1-2 clinical testing. Safety and immunogenicity of MVA85A were tested in adults, adolescents, children and infants in multiple countries and in M. tuberculosisinfected and -uninfected individuals.<sup>45,113–117</sup> MVA85A strongly boosted antigen- specific CD4+ T cells that predominantly expressed IFNy, TNF and IL-2 in these studies, while some expression of IL- 17 or GM-CSF was also reported. 45,113-117 Antigen-specific CD8+ T cell responses were very infrequent. A long-term follow-up of MVA85A recipients demonstrated that Ag85A-specific CD4+ T cell responses were sustained 3–5 years after vaccination, suggesting that MVA85A establishes a long-lived memory response.<sup>118</sup> Despite these promising results, MVA85A administration at 4-6 months of age in BCG-vaccinated, South African children did not result in significant protection against TB disease or *M. tuberculosis* infection.<sup>88</sup> MVA85A was also found to be well-tolerated and immunogenic in HIV-infected persons<sup>117,119</sup> but did not demonstrate protective efficacy against TB disease in a small trial of HIV-infected adults.<sup>120</sup> Administration of MVA85A by aerosol, which aims to establish a tissue-resident T cell response in the lung that may afford better protective immunity than the systemic response induced by intradermal MVA85A, is currently under investigation.<sup>121</sup>

The adenovirus-35 vaccine, Aeras-402, which contains Ag85A, Ag85B and TB10.4, has also been assessed in adults and infants from several settings and was aimed at boosting BCG-primed or *M. tuberculosis*-induced T cell responses.<sup>46,122-125</sup> Similarly to MVA85A, Aeras-402 vaccination boosted antigen-specific CD4+ T cells that predominantly expressed IFN $\gamma$ , TNF and IL-2. However, Aeras-402 also induced high-frequency antigen-specific IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing CD8+ T cell responses. <sup>46,122-125</sup> Antigen-specific antibody responses were not typically assessed in the early trials of viral vectored vaccine candidates, although antibodies to Ag85A, Ag85B and TB10.4 were induced in infants who received either two or three doses of Aeras-402 vaccination at 16–26 weeks of age.<sup>123</sup>

Ad5Ag85A is an adenovirus 5-vectored vaccine that encodes the Ag85A antigen. Ad5Ag85A has completed phase 1 testing in two trials in Canadian BCG-naïve and BCG-vaccinated adults and was shown to have an acceptable safety profile.<sup>126,127</sup> Ad5Ag85A induced Th1 cytokine-expressing CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses, even in individuals with pre-existing anti-Ad5 antibody responses,<sup>26</sup> while induced CD8+ T cell responses were shown to by cytotoxic.<sup>127</sup> Aerosol administration of Ad5Ag85A is currently being investigated in a phase 1 study in healthy adults in Canada (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02337270).

#### Protein subunit vaccine candidates

Several protein-subunit vaccine candidates have been developed and are in clinical testing. The  $M72/ASO1_{E}$  candidate, which comprises two antigens – Mtb32A (pepA) and Mtb39A (PPE18) – has been assessed in several clinical trials in Europe and Africa in *M. tuberculosis*-infected and -uninfected persons.<sup>128-130</sup> The vaccine induces robust, polyfunctional CD4+ T cells expressing IFNy, TNF and IL-2, antigen-specific IgG antibody responses as well as detectable CD8+ T cell responses. 128-130 A placebo-controlled phase 2b trial to evaluate the protective efficacy of two doses of M72/ASO1E against pulmonary TB in 3573 M. tuberculosis-infected adults aged 18-50 years from Kenya, South Africa and Zambia recently reported results of the primary analysis through two years of follow-up (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01755598). M72/ASO1E provided 54% protection against progression to confirmed pulmonary TB disease overall; and 84% efficacy in the subgroup of participants younger than 25 years of age, which is possibly a function of more recent *M. tuberculosis* infection.<sup>79</sup> Final results through three years showed 50% protection overall and post hoc analysis did not suggest any age effect on vaccine efficacy; concentrations of M72-specific antibodies and frequencies of M72-specific CD4+ T cells were sustained throughout the follow-up period.<sup>80</sup> Efficacy of M72/ASO1E when administered to *M. tuberculosis*-uninfected populations, durability of protection beyond three years, and efficacy in other geographical settings and risk groups, including HIV-infected persons, are important concerns that should be answered in future trials.

ID93+GLA-SE is a fusion protein comprising Rv1813c, Rv2608, Rv3619c and Rv3620c, in the adjuvant formulation GLA-SE, which has been assessed in early-phase trials in both uninfected and *M. tuberculosis*-infected persons in South Africa and the USA.<sup>¶</sup> <sup>131</sup> This vaccine candidate was shown to induce a predominantly polyfunctional, IFNγ, TNF and IL-2-expressing CD4+ T cell response and high-titre antigen-specific IgG1 and IgG3 antibody responses.<sup>131</sup> Antigen-specific CD8+ T cell responses were very low or not detected. A phase 2 trial in which ID93+GLA-SE was administered to TB patients upon completion of successful TB treatment was recently completed. This study assessed safety and immunogenicity in preparation for prevention of recurrent TB disease trials. Results are expected in 2020.<sup>\*\*</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>¶</sup> ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02508376 and NCT01599897.

<sup>\*\*</sup> ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02465216.

Three related but different fusion protein vaccines (H4, H1 and H56), all adjuvanted in IC31, were developed by Statens Serum Institut in Copenhagen, Denmark, and are in different stages of clinical development. H4:IC31, which contains a fusion protein of Ag85B and TB10.4, was developed as a pre-exposure vaccine candidate (i.e. for individuals not infected with *M. tuberculosis*). H4:IC31 was the first of these products to reach clinical testing in phase 1 trials in *M. tuberculosis*-uninfected adults from Finland and Sweden,<sup>132</sup> after which it was tested in infected and uninfected adults from South Africa.<sup>133</sup> This vaccine candidate induced a T cell response predominated by CD4+ T cells that expressed TNF and IL-2 or these two cytokines plus IFNy. No notable antigen-specific CD8+ T cell responses have been reported. H4:IC31 was tested for prevention of *M. tuberculosis* infection in 990 QFT-negative adolescents in the recently published phase 2b trial.<sup>35</sup> H4:IC31 demonstrated no efficacy against initial QFT conversion. However, protection against sustained QFT conversion was 30.5% (95% CI -15.8-58.3%), which was significant at a lower, protocol-defined, statistical threshold (80% CI, 3-50.2%).<sup>35</sup> Although these results did not provide definitive evidence for vaccine efficacy of H4:IC31, they suggest that related protein subunit vaccines may have a biological effect against *M. tuberculosis* in humans, a result that provides impetus for the development of H56:IC31.

H1:IC31 and H56:IC31, which both comprise fusion proteins of ESAT-6 and Ag85A and were designed as pre- and post-exposure vaccine candidates, differ in that the H56 polyprotein also includes Rv2660c.<sup>134</sup> Early human trials assessed the safety and immunogenicity of H1:IC31<sup>135-137</sup> but results from animal models suggested that H56:IC31 conferred superior protection to H1:IC31 and consequently H56:IC31 was favoured.<sup>134,138</sup> Safety and immunogenicity of H56:IC31 has been assessed in four clinical trials in South Africa.<sup>††139,140</sup> H1:IC31 and H56:IC31, administered twice or three times, induced predominantly TNF+IL-2+ or IFNγ+TNF+IL-2+ CD4 T cell responses and little-to-no antigen-specific CD8+ T cell responses, as has been reported for H4:IC31. Vaccine-induced CD4+ T cell responses target both the Ag85B and ESAT-6 components, while responses to Rv2660c have been very low and not detected in all vaccinees. <sup>139,140</sup> A recent phase 2 trial assessed the safety and immunogenicity of H56:IC31 in adults who recently completed successful treatment of TB<sup>‡‡</sup> which was conducted in preparation for a phase 2b proof of concept trial that aims to determine the efficacy of H56:IC31 in protecting against recurrent TB.

#### Comparing immune responses induced by viral vector and protein subunit vaccines

A notable limitation in the clinical vaccine development landscape is that distinct TB vaccine candidates have typically been assessed in unrelated trials with no inter-trial harmonization or standardization. This precludes direct comparison of results obtained for different vaccine candidates, including immunological outcomes. A recent study sought to compare BCG and six novel TB vaccine candidates – MVA85A, AERAS-402, H1:IC31, H56:IC31, M72/AS01E and ID93+GLA-SE – by their induced antigen-specific CD4 and CD8 T cell responses. To address this, Rodo et al. compared published immunogenicity data from clinical trials completed in adolescents or adults at a single site in South Africa.<sup>141</sup> The results suggest that CD4+ T cell response magnitude was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>††</sup> Clinical'Trials.gov Identifiers: NCT02378207 and NCT02375698.

<sup>#</sup> ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02375698.

the T cell response feature which most differentiated between the different candidates, while analysis of cytokine-co-expression profiles suggested a lack of diversity in responses induced by the different vaccines. M72:AS01E appeared to be the most immunogenic of the candidates since it induced the highest antigen-specific memory CD4+ T cell response. These findings suggest that the likelihood of finding a highly protective vaccine by empirical testing of TB vaccine candidates would be increased by the addition of candidates that induce distinct immune characteristics to the ones already in clinical trials. This comparative analysis did not include data from whole cell or live vaccine candidates, which do appear to induce more diverse, and a broader repertoire of, immune responses.

#### Whole cell vaccine candidates

Attenuation or inactivation of infectious organisms has been a successful strategy for developing live attenuated vaccines which confer long-lived protective immunity against many different diseases.<sup>142</sup> It is thought that live attenuated or killed whole cell vaccines may thus have potential advantages against *M. tuberculosis* compared with viral vector or protein subunit vaccine candidates on the basis of their broad antigen composition that includes proteins, lipids, carbohydrates and other moieties that may be antigenic and trigger donor unrestricted T cell responses, B cell responses and possibly also NK and ILC responses.

Whole cell vaccines in development include an *M. vaccae* lysate administered to tuberculin-positive adult subjects in a phase 3 study in China to prevent progression from latency to active disease (the published results are not available at present). DAR-901 derived from *M. obuense*, which was shown to provide partial protection against progression to microbiologically-confirmed TB disease in HIV-infected persons in Tanzania using a multi-dose regimen, was recently tested in a proof-of-concept prevention of infection trial.<sup>143,144</sup> A 3-dose DAR-901 regimen did not prevent initial or persistent IGRA conversion, although lower-than-expected event rates limit generalization of the findings.<sup>145</sup> The *M. tuberculosis* lysate RUTI is being developed as a therapeutic vaccine targeted at patients with multidrug-resistant disease.<sup>146</sup>

The live attenuated vaccine candidate at the most advanced stage of clinical development is VPM-1002, a recombinant BCG. The urease C subunit-encoding gene ureC, which reduces acidification of the phagosomal compartment, has been deleted in VPM-1002, while this bacterium expresses the listeriolysin protein from Listeria monocytogenes, which functions to perforate the phagosomal membrane. VPM-1002 is therefore designed to enter the cytosol of host cells, where it releases antigens and increases apoptosis and xenophagy, as shown by in vitro experiments.<sup>147,148</sup> Tolerability and immunogenicity of VPM-1002 have been assessed in two phase 1 trials in adults<sup>104</sup> and two phase 2a trials in healthy infants,<sup>105</sup> one of which was in newborns born to HIV-infected and uninfected mothers (NCT 02391415). VPM-1002 induced a diverse specific T cell response that included CD4+ and CD8+ T cells expressing different combinations of IFNy, TNF and IL-2. An interesting feature of the VPM-1002-induced response was the emergence of an unusual IL-17-expressing CD8+ T cell subset 16-24 weeks after vaccination.<sup>105</sup> A phase 3 trial of VPM-1002 in patients who have completed TB treatment is under way in India, while a phase 3 trial in infants from South Africa is planned.

MTBVAC is an attenuated *M. tuberculosis* vaccine candidate which contains two independent stable mutations in phoP and fadD26, which are both virulence factors. These deletions result in reduced production of immunomodulatory cell-wall lipids and no secretion of ESAT-6.<sup>149</sup> A phase 1 trial of MTBVAC in healthy adults was completed in Switzerland<sup>150</sup> and a phase 2 study was recently completed in South African adults and infants.<sup>108</sup> MTBVAC induces antigen-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells that express IFNγ, TNF and IL-2. Although antigen-specific responses to ESAT- 6 and CFP-10 were not durable to the end of the study in Swiss adults,<sup>150</sup> a dose-dependent IGRA-positive response to MTBVAC that was maintained for up to 12 months was observed in a large proportion of infants who received MTBVAC.<sup>108</sup> The results suggest promising immunogenicity of MTBVAC in infants, but also highlight the importance of developing methods for differentiating between vaccine-induced and *M. tuberculosis* infection-induced IGRA conversion. Two phase 2 dose-finding trials to study safety, tolerability and immunogenicity of MTBVAC are in progress in South Africa, one in infants and another in adults.<sup>§§</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>SS</sup> ClinicalTrials.gov Identifiers: NCT02933281 and NCT03536117.

#### Conclusion

Recent advances in proof-of-concept efficacy trials against sustained *M. tuberculosis* infection in an *M. tuberculosis*-uninfected population (BCG revaccination)<sup>35</sup> and against progression to TB disease in a M. tuberculosis-infected population (M72/AS01E)<sup>79,80</sup> demonstrate that a novel and efficacious vaccine against TB is possible and should serve to provide much-needed impetus to vaccine development efforts. These milestones also offer the opportunity to discover vaccine-mediated correlates of immunity against both sustained infection and progression from infection to TB disease. Discovery and validation of such immune correlates, as applicable across all vaccine products, is critical to accelerating the testing of increased numbers of novel vaccine candidates through phase 1-2 trials. Until such tools become available, critical questions - such as whether BCG revaccination or M72/ASO1E vaccination of *M. tuberculosis*uninfected populations has meaningful efficacy against subsequent progression to TB disease - can be answered only by large clinical trials in TB-endemic countries. The durability of such protection, and its efficacy in other geographical settings and risk groups, including HIV-infected persons, are other important questions that must be answered in future trials.

## References

- 1. **Houben RM, Dodd PJ.** The global burden of latent tuberculosis infection: are-estimation using mathematical modelling. *PLoS Medicine*. 2016;13(10):e1002152.
- 2. Marais BJ, Gie RP, Schaaf HS, Hesseling AC, Obihara CC, Starke JJ et al. The natural history of childhood intra-thoracic tuberculosis: a critical review of literature from the pre-chemotherapy era. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* 2004;8(4):392-402.
- 3. Menzies NA, Wolf E, Connors D, Bellerose M, Sbarra A, Cohen T et al. Progression from latent infection to active disease in dynamic tuberculosis transmission models: a systematic review of the validity of modelling assumptions. *Lancet Infect Dis. 2018;18(8):e228–38.*
- 4. Behr MA, Edelstein PH, Ramakrishnan L. Revisiting the timetable of tuberculosis. *BMJ. 2018;362: k2738.*
- 5. Global tuberculosis report. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020.
- 6. Auld SC, Kasmar AG, Dowdy DW, Mathema B, Gandhi N, Churchyard GJ et al. Research roadmap for tuberculosis transmission science: where do we go from here and how will we know when we're there? J Infect Dis. 2017;216(suppl\_6):S662-S8.
- 7. Manjelievskaia J, Erck D, Piracha S, Schrager L. Drug-resistant TB: deadly, costly and in need of a vaccine. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* 2016;110(3):186-91.
- 8. Schrager LK, Chandrasekaran P, Fritzell BH, Hatherill M, Lambert P-H, McShane H et al. WHO preferred product characteristics for new vaccines against tuberculosis. *Lancet Infect Dis. 2018;18(8):828–9.*
- 9. Mahomed H, Hawkridge T, Verver S, Geiter L, Hatherill M, Abrahams D-A et al. Predictive factors for latent tuberculosis infection among adolescents in a high-burden area in South Africa. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* 2011;15(3):331–6.
- 10. Wood R, Liang H, Wu H, Middelkoop K, Oni T, Rangaka MX et al. Changing prevalence of tuberculosis infection with increasing age in high-burden townships in South Africa. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* 2010;14(4):406–12.
- 11. Zwerling A, Behr MA, Verma A, Brewer TF, Menzies D, Pai M. The BCG World Atlas: a database of global BCG vaccination policies and practices. *PLoS Medicine*. 2011;8(3):e1001012.

- 12. Behr MA, Small PM. Has BCG attenuated to impotence? Nature. 1997;389(6647):133-4.
- 13. Ritz N, Curtis N. Mapping the global use of different BCG vaccine strains. *Tuberculosis. 2009;89(4):248-51.*
- 14. Abdallah AM, Hill-Cawthorne GA, Otto TD, Coll F, Guerra-Assunção JA, Gao G et al. Genomic expression catalogue of a global collection of BCG vaccine strains show evidence for highly diverged metabolic and cell-wall adaptations. *Sci Rep. 2015;5:15443.*
- 15. Ritz N, Hanekom WA, Robins-Browne R, Britton WJ, Curtis N. Influence of BCG vaccine strain on the immune response and protection against tuberculosis. *FEMS Microbiol Rev. 2008;32(5):821–41.*
- 16. Mangtani P, Abubakar I, Ariti C, Beynon R, Pimpin L, Fine PEM et al. Protection by BCG vaccine against tuberculosis: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2014;58(4):470-80.
- 17. Harris RC, Dodd PJ, White RG. The potential impact of BCG vaccine supply shortages on global paediatric tuberculosis mortality. *BMC Med.* 2016;14(1):138.
- 18. Van Wezel AL. Vaccines: quantities, production and costs. *Trop Geogr Med.* 1985;37(3):S35-9.
- 19. Abubakar I, Pimpin L, Ariti C, Beynon R, Mangtani P, Sterne JAC et al. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the current evidence on the duration of protection by bacillus Calmette-Guerin vaccination against tuberculosis. *Health Technol Assess. 2013;17(37):1-372,v-vi.*
- 20. Trunz BB, Fine P, Dye C. Effect of BCG vaccination on childhood tuberculous meningitis and miliary tuberculosis worldwide: a meta-analysis and assessment of cost-effectiveness. *Lancet.* 2006;367(9517):1173-80.
- 21. Aaby P, Roth A, Ravn H, Napirna BM, Rodrigues A, Lisse IM et al. Randomized trial of BCG vaccination at birth to low-birth-weight children: beneficial nonspecific effects in the neonatal period? J Infect Dis. 2011;204(2):245-52.
- 22. Rieckmann A, Villumsen M, Sorup S, et al. Vaccinations against smallpox and tuberculosis are associated with better long-term survival: a Danish case-cohort study 1971-2010. *Int J Epidemiol. 2017;46(2):695–705.*
- 23. Beyazova U, Rota S, Cevheroglu C, Karsligil T. Humoral immune response in infants after BCG vaccination. *Tuber Lung Dis.* 1995;76(3):248-53.
- 24. Hoft DF, Kemp EB, Marinaro M, Cruz O, Kiyono H, McGhee JR et al. A double-blind, placebo-controlled study of *Mycobacterium*-specific human immune responses induced by intradermal bacille Calmette-Guerin vaccination. *J Lab Clin Med. 1999;134(3):244–52.*

- 25. Lamm DL, Blumenstein BA, Crissman JD, Montie JE, Gottesman JE, Lowe BA et al. Maintenance bacillus Calmette-Guerin immunotherapy for recurrent TA, T1 and carcinoma in situ transitional cell carcinoma of the bladder: a randomized Southwest Oncology Group Study. J Urol. 2000;163(4):1124–9.
- 26. BCG vaccines: WHO position paper, February 2018 Recommendations. *Vaccine*. 2018;36(24):3408–10. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.03.009.
- 27. Sterne JA, Rodrigues LC, Guedes IN. Does the efficacy of BCG decline with time since vaccination? *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 1998;2(3):200–7.*
- 28. Barreto ML, Cunha SS, Pereira SM, Genser B, Hijjar MA, Yury Ichihara M et al. Neonatal BCG protection against tuberculosis lasts for 20 years in Brazil. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2005;9(10):1171–3.*
- 29. Aronson NE, Santosham M, Comstock GW, Howard RS, Moulton LH, Rhoades ER et al. Long-term efficacy of BCG vaccine in American Indians and Alaska Natives: A 60-year follow-up study. JAMA. 2004;291(17):2086-91.
- 30. Randomised controlled trial of single BCG, repeated BCG, or combined BCG and killed *Mycobacterium leprae* vaccine for prevention of leprosy and tuberculosis in Malawi. Karonga Prevention Trial Group. *Lancet. 1996;348(9019):17–24.*
- 31. Rodrigues LC, Pereira SM, Cunha SS, Genser B, Yury Ichihara M, de Brito SC et al. Effect of BCG revaccination on incidence of tuberculosis in school-aged children in Brazil: the BCG-REVAC cluster-randomised trial. *Lancet.* 2005;366(9493):1290-5.
- 32. Barreto ML, Pereira SM, Pilger D, Cruz AA, Cunha SS, Sant'Anna C et al. Evidence of an effect of BCG revaccination on incidence of tuberculosis in school-aged children in Brazil: second report of the BCG-REVAC cluster-randomised trial. *Vaccine*. 2011;29(31):4875–7.
- 33. Ponnighaus JM, Fine PE, Sterne JA, Wilson RJ, Msosa E, Gruer PJ et al. Efficacy of BCG vaccine against leprosy and tuberculosis in northern Malawi. *Lancet. 1992;339(8794):636–9.*
- 34. Roy A, Eisenhut M, Harris RJ, Rodrigues LC, Sridhar S, Habermann S et al. Effect of BCG vaccination against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection in children: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ.* 2014;349:g4643.
- 35. Nemes E, Geldenhuys H, Rozot V, Rutkowski KT, Ratangee F, Bilek N et al. Prevention of *M. tuberculosis* infection with H4:IC31 vaccine or BCG revaccination. *N Engl J Med.* 2018;379(2):138–49.
- 36. Dye C. Making wider use of the world's most widely used vaccine: Bacille Calmette-Guerin revaccination reconsidered. J R Soc Interface. 2013;10(87):20130365.
- 37. O'Garra A, Redford PS, McNab FW, Bloom CI, Wilkinson RJ, Berry MP. The immune response in tuberculosis. *Annu Rev Immunol. 2013;31:475–527.*

- 38. Jasenosky LD, Scriba TJ, Hanekom WA, Goldfeld AE. T cells and adaptive immunity to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in humans. *Immunol Rev.* 2015;264(1):74-87.
- 39. Lewinsohn DA, Lewinsohn DM, Scriba TJ. Polyfunctional CD4(+) T cells as targets for tuberculosis vaccination. *Front Immunol.* 2017;8:1262.
- 40. Covert BA, Spencer JS, Orme IM, Belisle JT. The application of proteomics in defining the T cell antigens of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Proteomics.* 2001;1(4):574-86.
- 41. Boesen H, Jensen BN, Wilcke T, Andersen P. Human T-cell responses to secreted antigen fractions of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Infect Immun. 1995;63(4):1491-7.
- 42. Wilkinson KA, Wilkinson RJ, Pathan A, Ewer K, Prakash M, Klenerman P et al. Ex vivo characterization of early secretory antigenic target 6-specific T cells at sites of active disease in pleural tuberculosis. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2005;40(1):184–7.
- 43. Lalvani A, Pathan AA, McShane H, Wilkinson RJ, Latif M, Conlon CP et al. Rapid detection of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection by enumeration of antigen-specific T cells. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2001;163(4):824-8.
- 44. Pathan AA, Wilkinson KA, Klenerman P, McShane H, Davidson RN, Pasvol G et al. Direct ex vivo analysis of antigen-specific IFN-gamma-secreting CD4 T cells in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-infected individuals: associations with clinical disease state and effect of treatment. J Immunol. 2001;167(9):5217–25.
- 45. McShane H, Pathan AA, Sander CR, Keating SM, Gilbert SC, Huygen K et al. Recombinant modified vaccinia virus Ankara expressing antigen 85A boosts BCG-primed and naturally acquired antimycobacterial immunity in humans. *Nat Med. 2004;10(11):1240–4.*
- 46. Abel B, Tameris M, Mansoor N, Gelderbloem S, Hughes J, Abrahams D et al. The novel tuberculosis vaccine, AERAS-402, induces robust and polyfunctional CD4+ and CD8+ T cells in adults. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2010;181(12):1407–17.*
- 47. Whatney WE, Gandhi NR, Lindestam Arlehamn CS, Nizam A, Wu H, Quezada MJ et al. A high throughput whole blood assay for analysis of multiple antigen-specific T cell responses in human tuberculosis infection. *J Immunol.* 2018;200(8):3008–19.
- 48. Burel JG, Lindestam Arlehamn CS, Khan N, Seumois G, Greenbaum JA, Taplitz R et al. Transcriptomic analysis of CD4(+) T cells reveals novel immune signatures of latent tuberculosis. *J Immunol.* 2018;200(9):3283–90.
- 49. Carpenter C, Sidney J, Kolla R, Nayak K, Tomiyama H, Tomiyama C et al. A side-by-side comparison of T cell reactivity to fifty-nine *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* antigens in diverse populations from five continents. *Tuberculosis (Edinb).* 2015;95(6):713–21.

- 50. Moguche AO, Musvosvi M, Penn-Nicholson A, Plumlee CR, Mearns H, Geldenhuys H et al. Antigen availability shapes T cell differentiation and function during tuberculosis. *Cell Host Microbe.* 2017;21(6):695–706e5.
- 51. Day CL, Abrahams DA, Lerumo L, van Rensburg EJ, Stone L, O'rie T et al. Functional capacity of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-specific T cell responses in humans is associated with mycobacterial load. *J Immunol.* 2011;187(5):2222-32.
- 52. Rozot V, Perreau M, Harari A, Pantaleo G. La signature immunologique. Nouvel outil diagnostique de la tuberculose active? [Immunological signatures: a new tool to diagnose active tuberculosis disease?]. *Med Sci (Paris).* 2011;27(10):808-11.
- 53. Rozot V, Patrizia A, Vigano S, Mazza-Stalder J, Idrizi E, Day CL et al. Combined use of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-specific CD4 and CD8 T-cell responses is a powerful diagnostic tool of active tuberculosis. *Clin Infect Dis.2015;60(3):432-7.*
- 54. Bruns H, Meinken C, Schauenberg P, Härter G, Kern P, Modlin RL et al. Anti-TNF immunotherapy reduces CD8+ T cell-mediated antimicrobial activity against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in humans. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(5):1167–77.
- 55. Godfrey DI, Uldrich AP, McCluskey J, Rossjohn J, Moody DB. The burgeoning family of unconventional T cells. *Nat Immunol.* 2015;16(11):1114–23.
- 56. Chan J, Mehta S, Bharrhan S, Chen Y, Achkar JM, Casadevall A et al. The role of B cells and humoral immunity in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. *Semin Immunol.* 2014;26(6):588-600.
- 57. Achkar JM, Chan J, Casadevall A. B cells and antibodies in the defense against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. *Immunol Rev.* 2015;264(1):167–81.
- 58. Rao M, Valentini D, Poiret T, Dodoo E, Parida S, Zumla A et al. B in TB: B cells as mediators of clinically relevant immune responses in tuberculosis. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2015;61(Suppl 3):S225-34.
- 59. Lu LL, Chung AW, Rosebrock TR, Ghebremichael M, Yu WH, Grace PS et al. A functional role for antibodies in tuberculosis. *Cell. 2016;167(2):433-43e14.*
- 60. Buffen K, Oosting M, Quintin J, Ng A, Kleinnijenhuis J, Kumar V et al. Autophagy controls BCG-induced trained immunity and the response to intravesical BCG therapy for bladder cancer. *PLoS Pathogens*. 2014;10(10):e1004485.
- 61. Roy Chowdhury R, Vallania F, Yang Q, Lopez Angel CJ, Darboe F, Penn-Nicholson A et al. A multi-cohort study of the immune factors associated with *M. tuberculosis* infection outcomes. *Nature*. 2018;560(7720):644-8.
- 62. O'Sullivan TE, Sun JC, Lanier LL. Natural killer cell memory. Immunity. 2015;43(4):634-45.
- 63. Sun JC, Beilke JN, Lanier LL. Adaptive immune features of natural killer cells. *Nature*. 2009;457(7229):557–61.

- 64. Soares AP, Scriba TJ, Joseph S, Harbacheuski R, Murray RA, Gelderbloem SJ et al. Bacillus Calmette-Guerin vaccination of human newborns induces T cells with complex cytokine and phenotypic profiles. J Immunol. 2008;180(5):3569-77.
- 65. Kagina BM, Abel B, Scriba TJ, Hughes EJ, Keyser A, Soares A et al. Specific T cell frequency and cytokine expression profile do not correlate with protection against tuberculosis after bacillus Calmette-Guerin vaccination of newborns. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2010;182(8):1073-9.
- 66. Soares AP, Kwong Chung CK, Choice T, Hughes EJ, Jacobs G, van Rensburg EJ et al. Longitudinal changes in CD4(+) T-cell memory responses induced by BCG vaccination of newborns. J Infect Dis. 2013;207(7):1084-94.
- 67. Lutwama F, Kagina BM, Wajja A, Waiswa F, Mansoor N, Kirimunda S et al. Distinct T-cell responses when BCG vaccination is delayed from birth to 6 weeks of age in Ugandan infants. *J Infect Dis. 2014;209(6):887–97.*
- 68. Murray RA, Mansoor N, Harbacheuski R, Soler J, Davids V, Soares A et al. Bacillus Calmette Guerin vaccination of human newborns induces a specific, functional CD8+ T cell response. *J Immunol.* 2006;177(8):5647-51.
- 69. Lagercrantz R, Enell H. Tuberculin-sensitivity and antibodies (agglutinins) after BCG-vaccination. *Acta Paediatr. 1953;42(4):316–22.*
- 70. **Turneer M, Van Vooren JP, De Bruyn J, Serruys E, Dierckx P, Yernault JC.** Humoral immune response in human tuberculosis: immunoglobulins G, A, and M directed against the purified P32 protein antigen of *Mycobacterium bovis* bacillus Calmette-Guerin. *J Clin Microbiol. 1988;26(9):1714–9.*
- 71. Das S, Cheng SH, Lowrie DB, Walker KB, Mitchison D, Vallishayee RS et al. The pattern of mycobacterial antigen recognition in sera from Mantoux-negative individuals is essentially unaffected by bacille Calmette-Guerin (BCG) vaccination in either south India or London. *Clin Exp Immunol. 1992;89(3):402–6.*
- 72. Pilkington C, Costello AM, Rook GA, Stanford JL. Development of IgG responses to mycobacterial antigens. *Arch Dis Child. 1993;69(6):644–9.*
- 73. Stainsby KJ, Lowes JR, Allan RN, Ibbotson JP. Antibodies to *Mycobacterium* paratuberculosis and nine species of environmental mycobacteria in Crohn's disease and control subjects. *Gut. 1993;34(3):371–4.*
- 74. Kagina BM, Abel B, Bowmaker M, Scriba TJ, Gelderbloem S, Smit E et al. Delaying BCG vaccination from birth to 10 weeks of age may result in an enhanced memory CD4 T cell response. *Vaccine*. 2009;27(40):5488–95.
- 75. Whelan KT, Pathan AA, Sander CR, Fletcher HA, Poulton I, Alder NC et al. Safety and immunogenicity of boosting BCG vaccinated subjects with BCG: comparison with boosting with a new TB vaccine, MVA85A. *PloS One. 2009;4(6):e5934.*

- 76. Fletcher HA, Tanner R, Wallis RS, Meyer J, Manjaly Z-R, Harris S et al. Inhibition of mycobacterial growth in vitro following primary but not secondary vaccination with *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG. *Clin Vaccine Immunol.* 2013;20(11):1683-9.
- 77. Hoft DF, Xia M, Zhang GL, Blazevic A, Tennant J, Kaplan C et al. PO and ID BCG vaccination in humans induce distinct mucosal and systemic immune responses and CD4(+) T cell transcriptomal molecular signatures. *Mucosal Immunol.* 2018;11(2):486–95.
- 78. Suliman S, Geldenhuys H, Johnson JL, Hughes JE, Smit E, Murphy M et al. Bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG) revaccination of adults with latent *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection induces long-lived BCG-reactive NK cell responses. *J Immunol.* 2016;197(4):1100–10.
- 79. Van Der Meeren O, Hatherill M, Nduba V, Wilkinson RJ, Muyoyeta M, Van Brakel E et al. Phase 2b controlled trial of M72/AS01E vaccine to prevent tuberculosis. *N Engl J Med. 2018;379(17):1621–34.*
- 80. Tait DR, Hatherill M, Van Der Meeren O, Ginsberg AM, Van Brakel E, Salaun B et al. Final analysis of a trial of M72/AS01E vaccine to prevent tuberculosis. N Engl J Med. 2019;381(25):2429-39.
- 81. Zak DE, Penn-Nicholson A, Scriba TJ, Thompson E, Suliman S, Amon LM et al. A blood RNA signature for tuberculosis disease risk: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet. 2016.*
- 82. Suliman S, Thompson E, Sutherland J, Weiner J, Ota MOC, Shankar S et al. Four-gene pan-African blood signature predicts progression to tuberculosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2018.*
- 83. Scriba TJ, Penn-Nicholson A, Shankar S, Hraha T, Thompson EG, Sterling D et al. Sequential inflammatory processes define human progression from *M. tuberculosis* infection to tuberculosis disease. *PLoS Pathogens. 2017;13(11):e1006687.*
- 84. Berry MP, Graham CM, McNab FW, Xu Z, Bloch SAA, Oni T et al. An interferon-inducible neutrophil-driven blood transcriptional signature in human tuberculosis. *Nature*. 2010;466(7309):973-7.
- 85. Bloom CI, Graham CM, Berry MP, Rozakeas F, Redford PS, Wang Y et al. Transcriptional blood signatures distinguish pulmonary tuberculosis, pulmonary sarcoidosis, pneumonias and lung cancers. *PLoS One 2013;8(8):e70630*.
- 86. Kaforou M, Wright VJ, Oni T, French N, Anderson ST, Bangani N et al. Detection of tuberculosis in HIV-infected and -uninfected African adults using whole blood RNA expression signatures: a case-control study. *PLoS Medicine*. 2013;10(10):e1001538.
- 87. Maertzdorf J, McEwen G, Weiner J, 3rd, Tian S, Lader E, Schriek U et al. Concise gene signature for point-of-care classification of tuberculosis. *EMBO Mol Med.* 2016;8(2):86-95.

- 88. Tameris MD, Hatherill M, Landry BS, Scriba TJ, Snowden MA, Lockhart S et al. Safety and efficacy of MVA85A, a new tuberculosis vaccine, in infants previously vaccinated with BCG: a randomised, placebo-controlled phase 2b trial. *Lancet 2013;381(9871):1021-8.*
- 89. Fletcher HA, Snowden MA, Landry B, Rida W, Satti I, Harris SA et al. T-cell activation is an immune correlate of risk in BCG vaccinated infants. *Nat Commun. 2016;7:11290.*
- 90. Andrews JR, Nemes E, Tameris M, Landry BS, Mahomed H, McClain JB et al. Serial QuantiFERON testing and tuberculosis disease risk among young children: an observational cohort study. *Lancet Respir Med.* 2017;5(4):282-90.
- 91. Winje BA, White R, Syre H, Skutlaberg DH, Oftung F, Mengshoel AT et al. Stratification by interferon-gamma release assay level predicts risk of incident TB. *Thorax. 2018 Apr 5:thoraxjnl-2017-211147. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2017-211147.*
- 92. Drain PK, Bajema KL, Dowdy D, Dheda K, Naidoo K, Schumacher SG et al. Incipient and subclinical tuberculosis: a clinical review of early stages and progression of infection. *Clin Microbiol Rev. 2018;31(4).*
- 93. Ernst JD. Mechanisms of *M. tuberculosis* immune evasion as challenges to TB vaccine design. *Cell Host Microbe. 2018;24(1):34–42.*
- 94. Williams A, Hatch GJ, Clark SO, Gooch KE, Hatch KA, Hall GA et al. Evaluation of vaccines in the EU TB Vaccine Cluster using a guinea pig aerosol infection model of tuberculosis. *Tuberculosis (Edinb).* 2005;85(1-2):29–38.
- 95. Sharpe SA, McShane H, Dennis MJ, Basaraba RJ, Gleeson F, Hall G et al. Establishment of an aerosol challenge model of tuberculosis in rhesus macaques and an evaluation of endpoints for vaccine testing. *Clin Vaccine Immunol.* 2010;17(8):1170–82.
- 96. Zelmer A, Tanner R, Stylianou E, Damelang T, Morris S. A new tool for tuberculosis vaccine screening: Ex vivo Mycobacterial Growth Inhibition Assay indicates BCG-mediated protection in a murine model of tuberculosis. *BMC Infect Dis. 2016;16:412.*
- 97. Lin PL, Maiello P, Gideon HP, Coleman MT, Cadena AM, Rodgers MA et al. PET CT identifies reactivation risk in cynomolgus macaques with latent *M. tuberculosis. PLoS Pathogens. 2016;12(7):e1005739.*
- 98. Lin PL, Flynn JL. The end of the binary era: revisiting the spectrum of tuberculosis. J Immunol. 2018;201(9):2541-8.
- 99. Pena JC, Ho WZ. Monkey models of tuberculosis: lessons learned. Infect Immun. 2015;83(3):852-62.
- 100. Waters WR, Palmer MV. *Mycobacterium bovis* infection of cattle and white-tailed deer: translational research of relevance to human tuberculosis. *ILAR J. 2015;56(1):26-43.*

- 101. Smith CM, Proulx MK, Olive AJ, Laddy D, Mishra BB, Moss C et al. Tuberculosis susceptibility and vaccine protection are independently controlled by host genotype. *MBio. 2016;7(5).*
- Barker L, Hessel L, Walker B. Rational approach to selection and clinical development of TB vaccine candidates. *Tuberculosis (Edinb).* 2012;92 (Suppl 1):S25-9.
- 103. Brennan MJ, Thole J. Tuberculosis vaccines: a strategic blueprint for the next decade. *Tuberculosis (Edinb).* 2012;92(Suppl 1):S6–13.
- 104. Grode L, Ganoza CA, Brohm C, Weiner J 3rd, Eisele B, Kaufmann SH. Safety and immunogenicity of the recombinant BCG vaccine VPM1002 in a phase 1 open-label randomized clinical trial. *Vaccine*. 2013;31(9):1340–8.
- 105. Loxton AG, Knaul JK, Grode L, Gutschmidt A, Meller C, Eisele B et al. Safety and immunogenicity of the recombinant *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG vaccine VPM1002 in HIV-unexposed newborn infants in South Africa. *Clin Vaccine Immunol. 2017;24(2).*
- 106. Hoft DF, Blazevic A, Abate G, Hanekom WA, Kaplan G, Soler JH et al. A new recombinant bacille Calmette-Guerin vaccine safely induces significantly enhanced tuberculosis-specific immunity in human volunteers. J Infect Dis. 2008;198(10):1491-501.
- 107. Arbues A, Aguilo JI, Gonzalo-Asensio J, Marinova D, Uranga S, Puentes E et al. Construction, characterization and preclinical evaluation of MTBVAC, the first live-attenuated *M. tuberculosis*-based vaccine to enter clinical trials. *Vaccine*. 2013;31(42):4867-73.
- 108. Tameris M, Mearns H, Penn-Nicholson A, Gregg Y, Bilek N, Mabwe S et al. Live-attenuated *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* vaccine MTBVAC versus BCG in adults and neonates: a randomised controlled, double-blind dose-escalation trial. *Lancet Respir Med.* 2019;7(9):757–70.
- 109. Scriba TJ, Mizrahi V. Renewing the fight against TB with an old vaccine. *Cell. 2020;180(5):829-31.*
- 110. Darrah PA, Zeppa JJ, Maiello P, HackneyJA, WadsworthMH II, Hughes TK et al. Prevention of tuberculosis in macaques after intravenous BCG immunization. *Nature*. 2020;577(7788):95-102.
- 111. Hansen SG, Zak DE, Xu G, Ford JC, Marshall EE, Malouli D et al. Prevention of tuberculosis in rhesus macaques by a cytomegalovirus-based vaccine. *Nat Med.* 2018;24(2):130-43.
- 112. Voss G, Casimiro D, Neyrolles O, Williams A, Kaufmann SHE, McShane H et al. Progress and challenges in TB vaccine development. *F1000Res. 2018;7:199.*
- 113. Hawkridge T, Scriba TJ, Gelderbloem S, Smit E, Tameris M, Moyo S et al. Safety and immunogenicity of a new tuberculosis vaccine, MVA85A, in healthy adults in South Africa. *J Infect Dis. 2008;198(4):544–52.*

- 114. Sander CR, Pathan AA, Beveridge NE, Poulton I, Minassian A, Alder N et al. Safety and immunogenicity of a new tuberculosis vaccine, MVA85A, in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-infected individuals. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2009;179(8):724-33.
- 115. Scriba TJ, Tameris M, Mansoor N, Smit E, van der Merwe L, Isaacs F et al. Modified vaccinia Ankara-expressing Ag85A, a novel tuberculosis vaccine, is safe in adolescents and children, and induces polyfunctional CD4+ T cells. *Eur J Immunol. 2010;40(1):279–90.*
- 116. Scriba TJ, Tameris M, Mansoor N, Smit E, van der Merwe L, Mauff K et al. Dose-finding study of the novel tuberculosis vaccine, MVA85A, in healthy BCG-vaccinated infants. J Infect Dis. 2011;203(12):1832-43.
- 117. Scriba TJ, Tameris M, Smit E, van der Merwe L, Hughes EJ, Kadira B et al. A phase IIa trial of the new tuberculosis vaccine, MVA85A, in HIV- and/or *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-infected adults. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2012;185(7):769-78.
- 118. Tameris M, Geldenhuys H, Luabeya AK, Smit E, Hughes JE, Vermaak S et al. The candidate TB vaccine, MVA85A, induces highly durable Th1 responses. *PloS One. 2014;9(2):e87340.*
- 119. Minassian AM, Rowland R, Beveridge NE, Poulton ID, Satti I, Harris S et al. A phase I study evaluating the safety and immunogenicity of MVA85A, a candidate TB vaccine, in HIV-infected adults. *BMJ Open.* 2011;1(2):e000223.
- 120. Ndiaye BP, Thienemann F, Ota M, Landry BS, Camara M, Dièye S et al. Safety, immunogenicity, and efficacy of the candidate tuberculosis vaccine MVA85A in healthy adults infected with HIV-1: a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 2 trial. *Lancet Respir Med.* 2015;3(3):190-200.
- 121. Satti I, Meyer J, Harris SA, Manjaly Thomas Z-R, Griffiths K, Antrobus RD et al. Safety and immunogenicity of a candidate tuberculosis vaccine MVA85A delivered by aerosol in BCG-vaccinated healthy adults: a phase 1, double-blind, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2014;14(10):939-46.
- 122. Kagina BM, Tameris MD, Geldenhuys H, Hatherill M, Abel B, Hussey GD et al. The novel tuberculosis vaccine, AERAS-402, is safe in healthy infants previously vaccinated with BCG, and induces dose-dependent CD4 and CD8T cell responses. *Vaccine*. 2014;32(45):5908–17.
- 123. Tameris M, Hokey DA, Nduba V, Sacarlal J, Laher F, Kiringa G et al. A double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled, dose-finding trial of the novel tuberculosis vaccine AERAS-402, an adenovirus-vectored fusion protein, in healthy, BCG-vaccinated infants. *Vaccine*. 2015;33(25):2944–54.
- 124. Walsh DS, Owira V, Polhemus M, Otieno L, Andagalu B, Ogutu B et al. Adenovirus type 35-vectored tuberculosis vaccine has an acceptable safety and tolerability profile in healthy, BCG-vaccinated, QuantiFERON((R))-TB Gold (+) Kenyan adults without evidence of tuberculosis. *Vaccine*. 2016;34(21):2430–6.

- 125. van Zyl-Smit RN, Esmail A, Bateman ME, Dawson R, Goldin J, van Rikxoort E et al. Safety and immunogenicity of adenovirus 35 tuberculosis vaccine candidate in adults with active or previous tuberculosis. A randomized trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2017;195(9):1171-80.
- 126. Smaill F, Jeyanathan M, Smieja M, Fe Medina M, Thanthrige-Don N, Zganiacz A et al. A human type 5 adenovirus-based tuberculosis vaccine induces robust T cell responses in humans despite preexisting anti-adenovirus immunity. *Sci Transl Med. 2013;5(205):205ra134.*
- 127. Jeyanathan M, Damjanovic D, Yao Y, Bramson J, Smaill F, Xing Z. Induction of an immune-protective T-cell repertoire with diverse genetic coverage by a novel viral-vectored tuberculosis vaccine in humans. J Infect Dis. 2016;214(12):1996–2005.
- 128. Day CL, Tameris M, Mansoor N, van Rooyen M, de Kock M, Geldenhuys H et al. Induction and regulation of T-cell immunity by the novel tuberculosis vaccine M72/AS01 in South African adults. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2013;188(4):492-502.
- 129. Penn-Nicholson A, Geldenhuys H, Burny W, van der Most R, Day CL, Jongert E et al. Safety and immunogenicity of candidate vaccine M72/AS01E in adolescents in a TB endemic setting. *Vaccine*. 2015;33(32):4025–34.
- 130. Leroux-Roels I, Forgus S, De Boever F, Clement F, Demoitié M-A, Mettens P et al. Improved CD4(+) T cell responses to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in PPD- negative adults by M72/AS01 as compared to the M72/AS02 and Mtb72F/AS02 tuberculosis candidate vaccine formulations: a randomized trial. *Vaccine*. 2013;31(17):2196-206.
- 131. Penn-Nicholson A, Tameris M, Smit E, Day TA, Musvosvi M, Jayashankar L et al. Safety and immunogenicity of the novel tuberculosis vaccine ID93 + GLA- SE in BCG-vaccinated healthy adults in South Africa: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 1 trial. Lancet Respir Med. 2018;6(4):287-98.
- 132. Norrby M, Vesikari T, Lindqvist L, Maeurer M, Ahmed R, Mahdavifar S et al. Safety and immunogenicity of the novel H4:IC31 tuberculosis vaccine candidate in BCG-vaccinated adults: two phase I dose escalation trials. *Vaccine*. 2017;35(12):1652–61.
- 133. Geldenhuys H, Mearns H, Miles DJ, Tameris M, Hokey D, Shi Z et al. The tuberculosis vaccine H4:IC31 is safe and induces a persistent polyfunctional CD4 T cell response in South African adults: a randomized controlled trial. *Vaccine.* 2015;33(30):3592–9.
- 134. Aagaard C, Hoang T, Dietrich J, Cardona P-J, Izzo A, Dolganov G et al. A multistage tuberculosis vaccine that confers efficient protection before and after exposure. *Nat Med. 2011;17(2):189–94.*
- 135. van Dissel JT, Soonawala D, Joosten SA, Prins C, Arend SM, Bang P et al. Ag85B-ESAT-6 adjuvanted with IC31(R) promotes strong and long-lived *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* specific T cell responses in volunteers with previous BCG vaccination or tuberculosis infection. *Vaccine*. 2011;29(11):2100-9.

- 136. van Dissel JT, Arend SM, Prins C, Bang P, Nyholm Tingskov P, Lingnau K et al. Ag85B-ESAT-6 adjuvanted with IC31 promotes strong and long-lived *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* specific T cell responses in naive human volunteers. *Vaccine*. 2010;28(20):3571-81.
- 137. Mearns H, Geldenhuys HD, Kagina BM, Musvosvi M, Little F, Ratangee F et al. H1:IC31 vaccination is safe and induces long-lived TNF-alpha(+)IL- 2(+)CD4 T cell responses in *M. tuberculosis* infected and uninfected adolescents: a randomized trial. *Vaccine*. 2017;35(1):132-41.
- 138. Hoang T, Aagaard C, Dietrich J, Cassidy JP, Dolganov G, Schoolnik GK et al. ESAT-6 (EsxA) and TB10.4 (EsxH) based vaccines for pre- and post-exposure tuberculosis vaccination. *PLoS One. 2013;8(12):e80579.*
- 139. Luabeya AK, Kagina BM, Tameris MD, Geldenhuys H, Hoff ST, Shi Z et al. First-in-human trial of the post-exposure tuberculosis vaccine H56:IC31 in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infected and non-infected healthy adults. *Vaccine*. 2015;33(33):4130-40.
- 140. Suliman S, Luabeya AKK, Geldenhuys H, Tameris M, Hoff ST, Shi Z et al. Dose optimization of H56:IC31 vaccine for TB endemic populations: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-selection trial. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2019;199(2):220–31.*
- 141. Rodo MJ, Rozot V, Nemes E, Dintwe O, Hatherill M, Little F et al. A comparison of antigen-specific T cell responses induced by six novel tuberculosis vaccine candidates. *PLoS Pathogens. 2019;15(3):e1007643.*
- 142. Amanna IJ, Carlson NE, Slifka MK. Duration of humoral immunity to common viral and vaccine antigens. *N Engl J Med.* 2007;357(19):1903–15.
- 143. von Reyn CF, Lahey T, Arbeit RD, Landry B, Kailani L, Adams LV et al. Safety and immunogenicity of an inactivated whole cell tuberculosis vaccine booster in adults primed with BCG: a randomized, controlled trial of DAR-901. *PLoS One. 2017;12(5):e0175215.*
- 144. von Reyn CF, Mtei L, Arbeit RD, Waddell R, Cole B, Mackenzie T et al. Prevention of tuberculosis in Bacille Calmette-Guerin-primed, HIVinfected adults boosted with an inactivated whole-cell mycobacterial vaccine. *AIDS. 2010;24(5):675-85.*
- 145. Munseri P, Said J, Amour M, Magohe A, Matee M, Rees CA et al. DAR-901 vaccine for the prevention of infection with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* among BCG-immunized adolescents in Tanzania: a randomized controlled, double-blind phase 2b trial. *Vaccine. 2020;38(46):7239–45.*
- 146. Vilaplana C, Gil O, Caceres N, Pinto S, Diaz J, Cardona PJ. Prophylactic effect of a therapeutic vaccine against TB based on fragments of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. PLoS One. 2011;6(5):e20404.

- 147. Grode L, Seiler P, Baumann S, Hess J, Brinkmann V, Eddine AN et al. Increased vaccine efficacy against tuberculosis of recombinant *Mycobacterium bovis* bacille Calmette-Guerin mutants that secrete listeriolysin. J Clin Invest. 2005;115(9):2472-9.
- 148. Saiga H, Nieuwenhuizen N, Gengenbacher M, Koehler A-B, Schuerer S, Moura-Alves P et al. The recombinant BCG ΔureC::hly vaccine targets the AIM2 inflammasome to induce autophagy and inflammation. J Infect Dis. 2015;211(11):1831-41.
- 149. Aguilo N, Gonzalo-Asensio J, Alvarez-Arguedas S, Marinova D, Belen Gomez A, Uranga S et al. Reactogenicity to major tuberculosis antigens absent in BCG is linked to improved protection against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Nat Commun. 2017;8:16085.
- 150. Spertini F, Audran R, Chakour R, Karoui O, Steiner-Monard V, Thierry A-C et al. Safety of human immunisation with a live-attenuated *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* vaccine: a randomised, double-blind, controlled phase I trial. *Lancet Respir Med.* 2015;3(12):953-62.

#### **Department of Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals**

World Health Organization 20, Avenue Appia CH-1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland E-mail: vaccines@who.int Web site: http://www.who.int/immunization/en/



